IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-891

WILLIAM REAVES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Southern Region Florida Bar No. 311545

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0066850

LAW OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL SOUTHERN REGION 101 NE 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, Indian River County, entered the judgments of conviction and the sentences of death.

On October 8, 1986, an Indian River County grand jury returned an indictment charging Mr. Reaves with one count of first-degree murder (Count I), one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon (Count II), and one count of trafficking in cocaine (Count III) (R2. 2051-2055). Thereafter, the State dismissed Counts II and III of the indictment (R2. 2429, 2532).

Mr. Reaves' trial commenced in August, 1987 in Sarasota County on a change of venue from Indian River County due to excessive pretrial publicity. A jury returned a verdict of guilty. Mr. Reaves appealed his conviction and sentence to this Court. On January 15, 1991, Mr. Reaves conviction was reversed because his former defense counsel had subsequently become the state attorney who ultimately prosecuted him. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 1991).

Mr. Reaves again proceeded to trial in February, 1992. This time, his case was tried in Marion County on a change of venue from Indian River County due to excessive pre-trial publicity. He was found guilty of first-degree murder and the jury recommended death by a vote of 10 to 2 (R2. 1811, 2320). Thereafter, the trial court sentenced Mr. Reaves to death (R2. 2328-2334).

Mr. Reaves' death sentence was upheld on direct appeal from the second trial. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 639 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1994).

The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on November

7, 1994. <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 115 S. Ct. 488 (1994).

Mr. Reaves filed an initial incomplete Motion to Vacate on February 15, 1996. Mr. Reaves' amended motion was filed on February 17, 1999.

A hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1993), was held before the trial court on May 28, 1999. The trial court entered an order summarily denying the motion for postconviction relief without an evidentiary hearing on February 9, 2000. Mr. Reaves' motion for rehearing was denied on March 14, 2000, and an appeal followed.

Thereafter, this Court remanded the instant case back to Circuit Court for a evidentiary hearing after the summary denial of Mr. Reaves' 3.850 motion, finding that:

> The postconviction court denied Reaves' allegation without an evidentiary hearing despite evidence that his counsel had evidence supporting this defense which he did not present. Specifically, the judge found that voluntary intoxication was not an available defense since the defendant's expert witness testified during a proffer that Reaves was not so intoxicated that he did not know right from wrong. This reasoning obscures the difference between an insanity defense and a voluntary intoxication defense. Insanity is a complete defense if, at the time of the crime, the defendant was incapable of distinguishing between right and wrong as a result of a mental disease or defect. Voluntary intoxication is a separate theory and is available to negate specific intent, such as the element of premeditation essential in first-degree murder. In order to successfully assert the defense of voluntary intoxication, "the defendant must come forward with evidence of intoxication at the time of the offense sufficient to establish that he was unable to form the intent necessary to commit the crime charged. Rivera v. State,

717 So. 2d 477, 485 n.12 (Fla. 1998) (quoting Linehan v. State, 476 So. 2d 1262, 1264 (Fla. 1985)). Voluntary intoxication was an available defense in this instance, and the record is inconclusive as to why counsel did not advance the defense. As Reaves' claim of ineffective assistance was legally sufficient and was not refuted by the record, it was error not to afford him an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

<u>Reaves v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 932, 938-939 (Fla. 2002). An evidentiary hearing was held below in Vero Beach, Florida, on March 4-6, 2003.

Trial counsel Kirschner testified at the evidentiary hearing on March 4, 2003 (T. 13-94). He stated that he was admitted to the bar in November 1984 and had been practicing as a defense attorney for about eight years at the time of Mr. Reaves' re-trial in 1992 (T. 14). He testified that he had never tried a capital murder case prior to Mr. Reaves' (T. 14).

Trial counsel stated that his theory of defense in the Reaves case was excusable homicide, not voluntary intoxication. He also said that he had no recollection of ever discussing voluntary intoxication as a potential defense with Mr. Reaves (T. 16). Kirschner stated that he had prepared for the case by reading the trial transcript of the first trial and by reviewing the discovery that he obtained from prior counsel. He noted that "[t]here were references to cocaine usage throughout those materials" (T. 17). He also recalled that the expert he retained, Dr. Weitz, noted cocaine abuse by Mr. Reaves as part of his diagnostic impression (T. 18). He confirmed that although he requested co-counsel for the Reaves'

trial, that request was denied and he was forced to do the trial by himself (T. 18).

Mr. Kirschner testified about a number of items, both of record and extra-record, that involved Mr. Reaves' drug use and possible intoxication. Defense exhibit 1 was Mr. Reaves' confession, which trial counsel testified he was familiar with and had read prior to the trial (T. 20). He agreed that Mr. Reaves' statement "indicated plenty of times that he was high on cocaine during the time of this incident" (T. 21-24).

Mr. Kirschner then testified that he had been aware that Mr. Reaves had been dating a woman named Jackie Green at the time of the murder (T. 24). He stated that he never interviewed her, and did not recall if she had given a statement to the police or if her home had been searched as part of the Reaves' investigation (T. 24). He stated that he had reviewed all the depositions that the original trial counsel had taken before Mr. Reaves' first trial as part of his own pre-trial preparation (T. 25).¹ Mr. Kirschner was then shown Defense Exhibit #2, an Indian River County Sheriff's Department police report, and Defense Exhibit #3, a 1987 deposition of Detective Mary Lenz (T. 25-26). After he reviewed the police report, Mr. Kirschner recalled that Mr. Reaves had been at Jackie Green's home immediately prior to going to the Zippy Mart where the shooting of the officer took place (T. 27). As to the deposition of Detective Lenz, which included a detailed description of items taken into

¹The record reveals that Ms. Green's statement was never transcribed and she was not deposed in 1987 or in 1992.

evidence from Jackie Green's house (wine bottle, ashtrays with marijuana residue, marijuana roaches including "one really large one"), counsel testified that although he probably reviewed this deposition he did not necessarily recall the details, other than having had his recollection refreshed that Ms. Green had signed a consent to search and had stated to the police that Mr. Reaves had been in the house by himself after she had left on Monday evening (T. 28).

A taped Sheriff's Office interview of Jacqueline Green (Spencer) was admitted into evidence as Defense Exhibit #17 after Ms. Green (Spencer) appeared in open court at the evidentiary hearing and was released from an Order to Show Cause (T. 454). Trial counsel Kirschner testified he was unfamiliar with the tape (T. 30). He also testified that he never interviewed Ms. Green (T. 24).

During his testimony, trial counsel also identified Defense exhibit #4, a packet of discovery material and police reports from the Dougherty County Sheriff in Albany, Georgia where Mr. Reaves was arrested on September 24, 1986 after the murder (T. 29). He agreed that a document in the Georgia materials stated that Mr. Reaves, after his arrest, was "complaining of head injuries, left eye, and also coming down off cocaine" (T. 29). Kirschner testified that he listened to Mr. Reaves' confession prior to the trial but he stated that he did not recall if he had asked the expert he retained, Dr. Weitz, to listen to the tape (T. 30). He also stated that he did not recall if he had ever listened to the taped statement of Mr. Reaves' girlfriend, Jackie Green (T. 30)(Defense Exhibit #17).

Mr. Kirschner stated that he talked to Mr. Eugene Hinton in the jail and off the record during Mr. Reaves' trial in an attempt to convince him to testify (T. 30). Trial counsel said that during the interview he never asked Hinton any questions about Mr. Reaves' drug use, about whether Hinton was using cocaine with Mr. Reaves, or to what extent Mr. Reaves was doing cocaine (T. 31). He further testified that the excusable homicide defense that he pursued at trial did not preclude developing and using an intoxication defense (T. 31). He agreed that a voluntary intoxication defense would have gone directly to Mr. Reaves' ability or lack thereof to form the specific intent to commit premeditated murder of the deputy (T. 32).

Trial counsel admitted that he never concerned himself with the failure of the crime lab to test the drugs found after the search of Jackie Green's home (T. 32). He agreed that his Defense Exhibit #5, a request for examination of physical evidence directed to the Regional Crime Laboratory at Indian River Community College, failed to include any request for lab testing of the drugs (T. 33). Likewise, he identified his Defense #6, a composite exhibit that included: an agreement between the defendant and the chief detective in Mr. Reaves' case requesting a blood draw for drug testing; an order for the blood draw signed by the judge on September 29, 1986; and documentation that the blood was not taken until October 3, 1986, at which time no alcohol or drugs were detected (T. 33-34). Trial counsel also agreed that lab reports showed that hairs were collected from clothing taken from Mr. Hinton's home and from Mr. Reaves at the

time of his arrest that were deemed to be "suitable for comparison or elimination" (T. 35). He further testified that he was familiar with the testing of hairs for the presence of drugs, and he agreed that if the hairs were those of William Reaves, that they could have been tested for the presence of cocaine (T. 35).

Trial counsel testified that if he had been provided with a copy of the Jackie Green tape during discovery, it would be in his trial attorney file (T. 35).² He testified that listening to the tape recording would not help him to recall if he was provided with a copy of the Jackie Green tape by the State prior to the trial (Т. 36). Although Mr. Kirschner testified that he interviewed family members and friends during trial preparation as "mitigation witnesses," and that those interviews included questions about Mr. Reaves' drug use after he came back from the war in Vietnam with "a significant drug problem," he stated that he failed to talk to any of the witnesses about Mr. Reaves' drug use at or around the time of the offense (T. 37). He stated that he did not recall if he ever asked his expert, Dr. Weitz, about how "Vietnam syndrome" might interact with the use of drugs (T. 38). He testified that he did not request funds for a neuropharmacologist or any other expert to explain how the drugs Mr. Reaves was using might have affected his behavior at the time of the offense (T. 38).

On cross-examination Mr. Kirschner testified that it was clear

²The tape of Jackie Green's police interview was not included in the trial attorney file in the possession of CCRC South, nor has a transcript of the tape ever been provided through the public records process.

to him by the time he finished talking to Eugene Hinton in the holding cell at Mr. Reaves' trial, that Hinton was not going to give any testimony in the case (T. 41). He testified that "if it didn't gut" his excusable homicide defense, his inability to get Dr. Weitz's testimony admitted at the guilt phase "damaged it a lot" (T. 51).

He testified that he failed to object to the State introducing at trial the 4.5 ounces of cocaine found on Mr. Reaves after his arrest in Georgia (T. 51-52). He agreed that during the trial he had asked the undercover police officer in Georgia who had been involved in Mr. Reaves' arrest whether the defendant's appearance was consistent with him being a "crack head" (T. 53). In response to why he did these two things, he explained, "I suppose that I wanted to be able to get the instruction on voluntary intoxication and that would explain both that and the previous failure to object to the introduction of the cocaine at the point of the arrest" (T. 53). He stated that during the charge conference he requested that the jury be given the instruction of the defense of voluntary intoxication "to leave that as an option for the jury, a fall-back position if you will from my primary defense which was excusable homicide" (T. 53).³

Trial counsel agreed with the state attorney's characterization that the voluntary intoxication defense required "a complete negation of the ability to form a specific intent" (T. 55). On the specific question as to what that meant in this case, trial counsel testified

³On redirect, after reviewing the trial record on the stand, Mr. Kirschner testified that the trial court actually brought up the possibility of an intoxication instruction, not him (T. 78-79).

that, "[i]f the jury believed that Mr. Reaves was voluntarily intoxicated, that he would not be able to be convicted of first degree murder and have to look at second" (T. 55). Trial counsel agreed that the State never rebutted Mr. Reaves' statements that he was on cocaine at the time of the offense (T. 59-60). He also agreed that the trial judge's sentencing order which rejected the two statutory mental health mitigating factors was a rejection of Dr. Weitz's testimony that both were present (T. 60).

Trial counsel testified that he never even discussed the possibility of using voluntary intoxication with Mr. Reaves, and that he had not investigated the defense to begin with:

> Q Now, the defense that you argued as your primary defense, excusable homicide, that was a complete defense to murder, correct?

A Yes.

Q Meaning, if the jury believed what you were saying, they would find the defendant not guilty?

A That's correct.

Q Whereas voluntary intoxication is an incomplete defense, it excuses first-degree murder -- or lessens it to second degree murder?

A Right. Specific intent.

Q Based on your conversations with Mr. Reaves, do you know if he would have authorized you to concede his guilt to second-degree murder?

A I don't know.

(T. 66-67).

Trial counsel testified that Mr. Reaves' own statement indicated

that he "believed that cocaine was a significant part of the explanation for what happened on the night of the shooting" (T. 68). He also disagreed with the state attorney's characterization that Mr. Reaves' behaviors in escaping from the crime scene by running for miles cross country to Eugene Hinton's house, providing Hinton with an account of the shooting, and managing to evade capture until he got to Albany, Georgia were inconsistent with voluntary intoxication:

> [I]f one looks at DUI videos and you see someone who is intoxicated, or impaired beyond the legal limit maybe two, three, or four times, performing well on physical performance tests conducted at the point of arrest, behavior sometimes is dependent upon the level of intoxicants that are used over time.

(T. 71).

On re-direct trial counsel admitted that he failed to ask any questions concerning intoxication during voir dire and failed to mention it during opening argument (T. 77). Generally, trial counsel testified that his allusions to intoxication during the trial were very minor (T. 78). He stated that Dr. Weitz was never retained as a substance abuse expert and he did not advise trial counsel as to the effects of cocaine on Mr. Reaves at the time of the offense (T. 80). He also testified that he was not allowed to impeach the testimony of Eugene Hinton that was read into the record at the 1992 trial with any of Mr. Hinton's four prior inconsistent statements (T. 82). He testified that he could have presented both excusable homicide and voluntary intoxication defenses in a consistent way if he had prepared them (T. 84). He also stated that the judge of how an intoxication defense is going to work is the jury

in the case (T. 86). He agreed that the jury never heard any testimony from Dr. Weitz at the guilt phase of the case and thus basically never heard anything from the defense arguing voluntary intoxication (T. 88).

After reviewing Defense Exhibit #7 for identification, the Eugene Hinton affidavit obtained by postconviction counsel, trial counsel testified that he just couldn't remember the particulars of Hinton's prior statements and how they compared with what Hinton said in the affidavit (T. 89).

At the evidentiary hearing on March 5, 2003, counsel for Mr. Reaves proffered Eugene Hinton's February 11, 1999 affidavit into the record after the lower court ruled that counsel could not provide a further written statement from Hinton or a personal proffer of counsel's February 26, 2003 meeting with Mr. Hinton in a Tampa Correctional facility (T. 423-426). The lower court had denied the Defendant's February 21, 2003 Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Testificandum, directed to transporting Mr. Hinton to testify in person at the evidentiary hearing, after the State filed an objection and a hearing was held on February 26, 2003. The lower court's written order was entered the next day.⁴

⁴Counsel has been unable to obtain a transcript of the hearing. Volume I on the instant record on appeal includes unnumbered computer docket pages for this case. Page 19 of the docket sheets includes the following listings: 12/19/02 Defendant's Witness List; 2/21/03 Defendant's Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Testificandum & Motion for Examination of Evidence; 2/28/03 Order on Motion for Writ of Habeas Corpus Ad Testificandum, denied; 3/04/03 Defendant's Motion for Forensic Testing Following Examination of Evidence, denied in open court. None of these items are in the record prepared by the Clerk. A simultaneous Motion to Supplement the Record is being filed

Before Hinton's affidavit was proffered, the lower court reiterated his reasons for denying the writ of habeas corpus ad testificandum:

> THE COURT: I did it because he didn't testify at the second trial, and I accepted the State's argument that it wasn't relevant to this action. Also, during this hearing all of your experts have testified that they read the affidavit of Mr. Hinton and formed opinions based on that and other documents, and if they hadn't had the affidavit, it wouldn't have affected their opinions one way or the other. It's becoming less and less relevant as we go through the witnesses.

I think your expert witnesses have communicated their opinions as, they looked at it, relied on it, even without relying on it, their opinions would have stayed the same. I don't see where there is any relevance beyond maybe if you want to proffer the affidavit. I think that would probably be sufficient for making a record that I didn't allow him to testify and this is what he would have testified to for any appellate issues that would come up.

I don't think we need to go over and get a sworn statement from him and proffer that statement. I think his affidavit would be fine as a proffer. You can mark it and you can read it into the record, if you want to.

(T. 423). The Court then stated that the State was not contesting that Mr. Reaves' was a drug addict, but rather if he was voluntarily intoxicated at the time of the commission of the crime (T. 424). The affidavit was read into the record and it included Mr. Hinton's comments relevant to a potential voluntary intoxication defense:

3. Fat and I sold drugs together between Gifford and Tallahassee. On our trips, Fat

with this Initial Brief including these and other relevant and material items that were not included in the instant record on appeal.

would shoot up and smoke drugs. We had been to Tallahassee the weekend before this happened. I saw Fat the night this happened. He said he was going to his girlfriend's house to chill out. I believe that meant that he was going to do drugs.

4. Fat, he used drugs sometimes he would start to talk about what happened over there and would take off running.

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