IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM REAVES ,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC04-891

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL  
CIRCUIT JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR INDIAN RIVER COUNTY

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, Jr.  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEBRA RESCIGNO  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLA. BAR NO. 0836907

LESLIE T. CAMPBELL  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
FLA. BAR NO. 0066631  
1515 N. FLAGLER DR., 9<sup>TH</sup> FLOOR  
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33401  
TELEPHONE (561) 837-5000  
FACSIMILE (561) 837-5108

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

U.S., at 689, 80 L Ed 2d 674, 104 S Ct 2052. We base our conclusion on the much more limited principle that "strategic choices made after less than complete investigation are reasonable" only to the extent that "reasonable professional judgments support the limitations on investigation." Id., at 690-691, 80 L Ed 2d 674, 104 S Ct 2052. A decision not to investigate thus "must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances." Id., at 691, 80 L Ed 2d 674, 104 S Ct 2052.

Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 533.

Here, in contrast to Wiggins, counsel was aware of Reaves' history of chronic drug abuse, that he was aware of Reaves' confession stating that he was "high" on cocaine the night of the shooting and, that he had been apprehended in Georgia with cocaine in his possession. There was nothing further Kirschner could discover or pursue for a voluntary intoxication defense at Reaves' 1992 re-trial and Reaves failed to present anything additional at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing. There were no laboratory tests for narcotics nor lay witnesses that Kirschner should have discovered. Even after eleven years from the time of the first trial, Reaves was unable to present any further evidence, testimonial or documentary, to support the crucial issue in a voluntary intoxication defense: the level and state of his intoxication at the time of the offense. Unlike Wiggins, post-conviction counsel here has offered nothing new,

let alone any significant or credible information that had been overlooked regarding a voluntary intoxication defense.

Orme, *supra*, applying Wiggins, held penalty phase counsel ineffective because he could offer no reasonable explanation as to why he did not present a mitigating defense of bipolar disorder. Counsel did not tell his experts of Orme's bipolar disorder and did not present evidence of such because "he had no other information to corroborate it...and did not want his expert to stick his neck out and get his head cut off". Orme, 896 So.2d at 733. In this case, however, Kirschner provided and discussed with Weitz all the information he had in the case, articulated his strategy, presented evidence of Reaves stated intoxication and chronic drug use to the jury and requested the court give a jury instruction on the defense of voluntary intoxication.

Finally, Bridges v. State, 466 So.2d 348 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), relied upon by Reaves for the proposition that it is incumbent on trial counsel to pursue a voluntary intoxication defense is unavailing. Bridges is not remotely similar to the instant case. Counsel in Bridges argued against a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication and "there was evidence that defendant had been drinking for several hours, and that he was described by witnesses as being "berserk" "unstable" "half-there" and "a whole lot strung out." Id., at 348. Here, as

already noted, trial counsel conducted a very thorough investigation and provided Weitz with sufficient information necessary to complete a competent evaluation. He also requested a jury instruction on voluntary intoxication. Reaves' good fortune in finding mental health professionals who will now opine that he suffers from post-traumatic stress disorder and that he does not suffer from anti-social personality disorder, does not prove that a competent investigation and subsequent evaluation were not conducted at the time of trial. Jones v. State, 732 So. 2d 313, 319 (Fla. 1999)(finding counsel's decision not to pursue further mental health investigation after receiving initial unfavorable report reasonable); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291, 295 (Fla. 1993)(rejecting claim that initial findings of mental health experts was deficient simply because defendant obtains different diagnosis now); Provenzano v. Dugger, 561 So. 2d 541 (Fla.1991)(same); LeCroy v. Dugger, 727 So. 2d 236, 239-240 (Fla. 1998)(upholding summary denial where record demonstrates that prior mental health expert had significant background material upon which to make a competent evaluation).

In sum, Reaves presented no testimony at the evidentiary hearing as to his actual level of intoxication other than his self-serving statements. This lack of corroboration supports the trial court's finding that Kirschner's decision was reasonable

trial strategy. There were no lab reports or drug tests performed on Reaves regarding his level of intoxication at the time of the murder and there were no independent witnesses who could corroborate Reaves' level of intoxication at that crucial time. There is competent, substantial evidence supporting the trial court's factual findings and its finding of no ineffectiveness must be affirmed. Kimbrough v. State, 886 So. 2d 965 (Fla. 2004)(rejecting claim that counsel failed to provided relevant information to mental health experts given the complete absence of what specific records were critical and overlooked); Jones, 855 So.2d at 616-17 (upholding denial of claim that counsel was ineffective where witnesses presented by defendant where not credible nor could they offer any information surrounding defendant's behavior at the time of the crime); Heynard v. State, 883 So. 2d 753 (Fla. 2004)(upholding trial court's conclusion that failure to present evidence of chronic drug use was not the result of counsel's deficient performance but because there was no evidence presented at evidentiary hearing to support the fact that it existed).

## ISSUE II

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION  
IN REFUSING TO PERMIT HINTON TO TESTIFY AT  
THE HEARING OR IN DENYING FORENSIC TESTING OF**

**TRIAL EVIDENCE FOR DRUG METABOLITES  
(restated)**

Reaves contends the trial court erred in not allowing Hinton to testify at the evidentiary hearing in light of Hinton's prior testimony and deposition. (IB 74, 88-89). He offers several instances of alleged ineffective assistance of counsel related to his attorney's alleged failure to present an intoxication defense. (IB 74-88). As a final sub-issue, Reaves maintains that forensic testing of various pieces of evidence for drug metabolites should have been granted by the trial court. (IB 88-89).

With respect to the allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel offered here, the State points out that two are unpreserved as they are being raised for the first time in this appeal, another is procedurally barred, and three others are repetitious of claims made in Issue I.<sup>26</sup> Because the

---

<sup>26</sup> The unpreserved issues are: (1) counsel was ineffective for failing to "provide the Hinton statements to his expert, Dr. Weitz" (IB 74) and (2) counsel failed to attempt to show the relevance of Hinton's "prior inconsistent statements" for an intoxication defense (IB 75-79). The procedurally barred claim is that counsel should have made a better argument to obtain admission of Hinton's alternative statements (IB 87). The repeated claims are: (1) counsel was on notice that further investigation of Reaves' possible intoxication was necessary and should have conducted interviews with Hinton and Jackie Green (IB 79-84); (2) counsel was ineffective in not using Jackie Green to impeach Hinton (IB 85-87); and (3) counsel did not prepare Dr. Weitz properly (IB 87-88).

ineffectiveness claim related to intoxication was addressed in Issue I, the State relies upon and reincorporates its answer to that matter here. The individual sub-claims will not be discussed further in this point, with the exception of a general discussion of how Hinton's proffered testimony would not satisfy the prejudice prong of Strickland.

It is the State's position that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the writ ad testificandum for Hinton's testimony. The limited issue<sup>27</sup> before the trial court was counsel's effectiveness related to his failure to present an intoxication defense. In this litigation, Reaves advised the court that Hinton's testimony would be used to support the prejudice prong of Strickland, however, he failed to show that Hinton's new account would have been relevant to the ineffectiveness claim given the fact Hinton refused to testify at the 1992 proceedings. Further, Hinton's 1999 affidavit does not speak to Reaves' level of intoxication at the time of the crime, the critical period, thereby, rendering added support to the conclusion the testimony was irrelevant. Given the irrelevance of Hinton's proffered account, there was no abuse of discretion in denying the writ.

---

<sup>27</sup> This Court remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of counsel's decision regarding an intoxication defense. Reaves v. State, 826 So.2d 932, 937-44 (Fla. 2000).

However, even though the writ was denied, the court considered Hinton's affidavit and assumed he would have testified consistently with it. Upon due consideration, the court determined such evidence would not have altered the outcome of the trial, thus, the dictates of Strickland were not met. These findings and legal conclusions are supported by substantial, competent evidence and the law. It is unrefuted that Hinton refused to testify in 1992 and was unavailable, in fact, Reaves so conceded in his initial brief on direct appeal following the retrial. Further, this Court found in the first postconviction appeal that the claim of the denial of the right to confront Hinton in the 1992 was procedurally barred. Now Reaves offers the same testimony, but it does not support an intoxication defense. These facts and procedural account, presented in more detail below, dictate that this Court affirm the denial of postconviction relief.

Also, there was no abuse of discretion in denying postconviction discovery in the form of testing evidence for drug metabolites. Reaves did not establish that the tests would lead to relevant and material evidence. The testing could not give results identifying the exact time and amount of cocaine ingested on the day of the crime. Hence, it was irrelevant to the issue of counsel's effectiveness related to an intoxication defense.

The standard of review applicable to a court's ruling on a motion for a writ of habeas corpus ad testificandum is an abuse of discretion. Bolender v. State, 422 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1982) superseded by statute on other grounds, Merck v. State, 763 So.2d 295, 299 (Fla. 2000); Moody v. State, 418 So.2d 989 (Fla. 1982). The same standard applies to the denial of a motion for discovery in a postconviction case. State v. Lewis, 656 So.2d 1248, 1250 (Fla. 1994) (determining it is moving party's burden to show court abused its discretion in denying discovery in postconviction litigation). Under this standard, the appellate court pays substantial deference to the trial court's ruling and will uphold it "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980).

Initially, it must be noted that other than commenting that the court denied Reaves' request to have Hinton testify, Reaves fails to set forth any argument related to how the court abused its discretion. The claim is not pled sufficiently and should be held waived. Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) (opining "purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to

arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."); Cooper v. State, 856 So.2d 969, 977 n.7 (Fla. 2003); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990). Assuming arguendo this Court reaches the merits, the following argument is offered.

Reaves sought a writ of habeas corpus ad testificandum for Hinton. (SR1 600-02). Objecting, the State argued: "because Hinton refused to testify [at the 1992 re-trial], his testimony is completely irrelevant to any alleged ineffectiveness of defense counsel. Further, it is outside the scope of the narrow issue presented in this evidentiary hearing, i.e., whether defense counsel was ineffective for failing to present a voluntary intoxication defense." (R 606-08). At the hearing the following discussion with Reaves' counsel took place:

MR. HENNIS: Briefly, your Honor. Our position is simply that Mr. Hinton's testimony would be relevant to the prejudice prong under Strickland pursuant to the issue the hearing's about, that's failure by trial counsel to investigate and present a voluntary intoxication defense. So that's our position, your Honor. We think the record supports our position and our 3.850 as pled supports that position.

THE COURT: Well, tell me how this testimony, if he didn't testify at trial, what testimony he could give at the hearing that would shed light on ineffective assistance of counsel regarding that, that voluntary intoxication defense?

MR. HENNIS: I believe that's in the record, your Honor.

THE COURT: Can you point me to, to the record?

MR. HENNIS: I can point you to the affidavit that was attached to the 3.850 from Mr. Hinton, your Honor.<sup>28</sup>

(R 699-700).

Hinton refused to testify at the 1992 re-trial, notwithstanding being told there were no grounds to invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege and that he would be held in contempt and given additional prison time if he continued to refuse to testify. (ROA-1 1123-24). Further, on at least ten (10) occasions Hinton emphasized that he did not recall anything. (ROA-1 1126-28). On direct appeal of the retrial, this Court noted Hinton's prior testimony from 1987 was read into the record

---

<sup>28</sup> Pertinent sections of the affidavit, procured in 1999 (seven years after the re-trial) stated as follows: "3. Fat [Reaves] and I sold drugs together between Gifford and Tallahassee. On our trips, Fat would shoot up and smoke drugs. We had been to Tallahassee the weekend before this happened. He said he was going to his girlfriend's house to chill out. I believe that meant that he was going to do drugs. 4. Fat, he used drugs sometimes he would start to talk about what happened over there and would take off running. 5. Fat came to my house after the police got shot. He was scared and thought people wanted to kill him. Fat was all strung out. He had been smoking crack and pretty much out of his head. He was real scared. I have never seen Fat violent with anyone but that night, he would run away from a fight if he could. (R. 425-26)

as he was unavailable.<sup>29</sup> Reaves, 639 So.2d at 3. As part of his appellate argument that prior inconsistent statements (1986 police statements and a 1987 deposition) from Hinton should have been admitted into evidence, Reaves conceded in his initial brief from the direct appeal at page 32 that "Hinton's former trial testimony (from 1987) was properly admitted because of his (Hinton's) 'unavailability' to testify within the meaning of chapter 90.804(1)." This Court agreed, but found the refusal to admit such evidence was harmless as the inconsistencies noted between Hinton's statements and 1987 testimony were to details that "did not repudiate the significant aspects of his testimony." Reaves, 639 So.2d at 4.

In spite of his concession and this Court's resolution of the matter, on collateral review, Reaves challenged the

---

<sup>29</sup> His testimony was summarized in Reaves v State, 639 So.2d 1, 3 (Fla. 1994):

According to Hinton, Reaves, wearing red shorts and carrying a gun wrapped in a white T-shirt, came to his apartment after the shooting and said: "I done . . . up. I just shot a cop, I just shot a police." Hinton testified that Reaves quoted the deputy as saying, "Don't shoot me. Don't shoot me. Don't kill me," to which Reaves responded, "One of us got to go. One of us got to go, me or you." Hinton had no trouble understanding Reaves; his speech was not slurred and he appeared to be in full control of his faculties.

admissibility of Hinton's prior testimony on the ground he was denied his right to confront a witness, namely, Hinton. This Court affirmed the summary denial finding the claim procedurally barred. See Reaves, 826 So.2d at 932. Now, Reaves asserts Hinton should have been allowed to testify to establish prejudice under Strickland and points to the 1999 affidavit as a basis to obtain his testimony.

Hinton's 1999 affidavit (R. 425-26), created seven years after he had refused to testify at the retrial, was significantly different from his 1987 trial testimony. By virtue of the affidavit being created years after the retrial, it was not relevant to counsel's representation in 1992 when Hinton refused to testify. The affidavit did not resolve the questions of when Reaves ingested drugs in relationship to the Officer Raczkoski's murder, the amount of drugs imbibed, and the level of intoxication at the time of the crime.<sup>30</sup> At best the affidavit

---

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